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Stove Point, Middlesex County, Virginia - Photograph taken October 7, 1981



STOVE POINT

William A. Johns, M. D.
Theodore M. Curtis

The above photograph was taken shortly after
T.T. Hawksworth bought Stove Point in 1935 and
was reprinted on the Hawksworth's Christmas card.



FOREWORD

This history, prepared at the request of
the Stove Point Improvement Association board,
explores outr past to illuminate the present
and as a source of information for those who
may become members of our community in
the future,

Through records available at the Saluda
courthouse and in the State Land Office at
the Virginia State ILibrary in Richmond it has
been possible to trace ownership of the land
we now know as Stove Point for more than two
hundred years and to document the first
reference to this area as '"Store Point" (in
165 3).

The development of Stove Point as a
residential and recreational community began
in 1936 and continued in waves as new sections
of the Point were platted and sold until 1955
when the last of the lots in the original
offering were purchased. Sources for the chronicle
of events embracing this period, and the
changes that have occurred from 1955 to the
present time, have been courthouse records
and the personal accounts of those who
participated in them.
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STOVE POINT
(Store Point 1653 - 1766)

The first reference to Store Point found in land patent records
was the land grant to Thomas Bourn from King Charles II on _
February 26, 1653 of 220 acres "lying in Lancaster County ( which
then included Middlesex ) upon the north side of the Piankatank River;
beginning at the southwest side with the western branch of the
Piapkatank opposite to Store Point.

Colonial expansion into the Middlesex area was delayed until
the 1640s as the result of internal problems in the colony as well as
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in England. Governor Berkeley dealt decisively with the Indians after
the massacre of 1644, protected the boundaries of Virginia and kept
Virginia loyal to the exiled King Charles II who had escaped capture
by Cromwell at the battle of Worcester, It was throughout this period
that the Royalists or Cavaliers, along with other immigrants settled
the area later named Middlesex. Many men and women arrived as
indentured servants, especially during the period between 1640 and
1670. Middlesex, originally a part of Lancaster County, was
established as an independent county between February 15,1668 and
May 12,1669, At that time less than a hundred families, approximately
one thousand men, women and children,lived in the county,

Tobacco and the '"Headright' instituted in 1618 - the ''right" of
an individual to claim fifty acres of land for each '""head" for whom
he paid the cost of transportation to the colony - supported the
Virginia colony and made possible the acquisition of land. Tobacco
in combination with headright invited private investment, for men of
even modest means could recruit servants in England, transport them
to Virginia to work on the land free to the investor by virtue of the
transportation and pocket profits of 200 to 300 percent over cost. The
combination peopled Middlesex as it did other sections of the colony,

In the aftermath of the Indian uprising in 1644 the land bordering
the Piankatank was acknowledged by treaty to be part of the Indian
domain, and settlement in what was to become Middlesex was barred.
But the very year of the treaty (1646) cattle were brought into the
Piankatank by boat and left to graze on its meadows. And in 1648,
because of the ""great and clamorous necessities of divers of the
inhabitants complaining of over-wrought grounds amid the decay of
their cattle and hoggs for want of sufficient grange, ' all restrictions
to the land were removed. The English moved onto the land to establish
their homes.,

They acquired land by buying old claims or laying out new claims
of their own, always sprinkling names as they came. The very act
of naming places in the wilderness made those places familiar and
the wilderness less foreboding.

The prominent neck of land marking the entrance to the Piankatank
was given the name of "'Store Point'' between 1648 and 1653,

According to one report, though not confirmed by a search of the
land patent records, Col. Moore Fauntleroy was the first owner of
Store Point, having received it as a grant from the crown during the
reign of King Charles II.

A search of the records did estzblish and decument ownership
of Store Point/Stove Point from 1761 to the present time. On
December 1, 1761 the Hon., Philip Grymes, Esq. sold to John Berry
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"that tract and parcel of land commonly known by the name and
appelation of Store Point lying and being in the County of Middlesex..."
John Berry's will dated December 9,1766 stated: ''I give my son

John Berry II all that parcel of land I bought of Philip Grymes, Esq.
commonly known by the name of ""Store Point." These were the last
references to ""Store Point'' found in any written record. By the hand

of a careless scribe Store Point became Stove Point,

Across Fishing Bay from Stove Point lies Berry Ville Shores where
a house believed to have been built about 1750 still stands. John Berry
had bought the 125 acres comprising Berry Ville Shores in 1748 and is
believed to have built this house and lived there.

Legend has it that there was in fact a“store at the southern end
of Stove Point, a legend given credibility by the existence of the
prominent sand spit then in this location which provided one of the few
places on the eastern seaboard where a large ship could anchor within
a few feet of shore and still be in twenty six feet of water. A large pit,
believed to have been an ice house, was a prominent feature of the high
land at the end of the point until it was filled in sometime in the 1960s,
Such a store had to be provisioned by water and large vessels would
have been required to off-load cargo to other boats as there was no
road to the end of Stove Point until the early 1950s.

A more plausible reason for the pit at the end of the point may be
that this was the site of a whiskey still which a farmer named Joe Ward
is known to have operated at this location. More about this later.

Captain John Smith and a band of explorers from Jamestown were
the first Englishmen to see Stove Point. In 1608 he was eager to
carry out the Virginia Company's instructions to explore the Chesapeake
Bay. Along with Dr. Walter Russell, six other gentlemen and seven
"other ranks', the explorers set out in their small sailing barge. On
their return trip Smith wanted to visit the river now known as the
Rappahannock where he had previously been brought during his captivity.
The barge was caught by the ebb tide and grounded on the south shore.
The party speared fish as they waited for the returning tide. Smith was
himself speared by a stingray on the wrist which became so infected
and swollen that others in his party feared for his life. Dr. Russell
applied oil to the wound and by nightfall Smith was out of danger, The
area where this accident occurred was given the name of Stingray Isle
which was later changed to Stingray Point when it was discovered that
the point was joined to the mainland, now the site of the town of
Deltaville.

Deltaville was first named Sandy Bottom, then Unionville after the
interdenominational Union Church which was located there and did not
come to be officially named Deltaville until 1909.

x«The "store" may have been an Indian trading post, according to one account.
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For more than three hundred years of the recorded history of the
coastal areas of Virginia, Stove Point remained little charged except
for the relentless erosion caused by the wind and tide. A search of
court records tracing ownership of Stove Point for more than two
hundred years reveals that until 1866 Stove Point was always sold or
willed as one parcel totaling about one hundred and twenty acres. In
1866 William Coulborne, then owner, divided Stove Point into two
parcels, one of twenty five acres, the other ninety four acres, and
sold them separately.

In March 1935 T.T. Hawksworth bought these two parcels, paying
$2, 350 for the twenty five acre tract and $9, 700 for the 94.5 acre
tract, or about $100 per acre. Two weeks later he married Frances
Slingluff Burch. The Hawksworths then owned Stove Point in its

entirety,

Tom and Frances (Buck) Hawksworth met in Baltimore and had
visited in Deltaville before their marriage. They were familiar with
the Fishing Bay area and decided it would be an ideal location for a
summer home. It was with this in mind that Tom Hawksworth bought
Stove Point in 1935, :
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The house at the turning circle shown above, now owned by the
Stull family, was dilapidated and in disrepair. The parlor in this old
house, now the dining room, had been used only for funerals. The
Hawksworths set about repairing the house to make it habitable as
their summer home, later even adding heat and insulation after the
children came. It was necessary for the Hawksworths to bring in
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electricity and telephone lines from Kelly's corner where the road
leading into Fishing Bay joins the main road. Other residents in the
area, preferring their oil lamps and isolation, did not join in this
project. An existing well, complete with rope and bucket, provided
water. A narrow washboard road led from the 30-foot right-of-way
to the property. Ruark Post Office, shown above, was the focus of
community life during this period. This house remained the summer
home of the Hawksworths until December 1955 when it was sold to
Neil F. and Florence C, Stull,

The day after Milton Cone of Richmond heard that the Hawksworths
had bought Stove Point he approached them about buying a lot. He said
he had been coming to Deltaville to fish for twenty five years, always
staying at Gemmill's Inn at Amburg, and for years had dreamed of
owning property on Stove Point. In August 1936 ten lots were surveyed
and platted as shown on the previous page. Milton Cone bought lot #1
marking the beginning of the development of Stove Point as a residential
and recreational area., Milton Cone's daughter, Elizabeth, and her
husband, George H. Brauberger, now own this lot, Wirt and Mary
Hatcher bought lot #3 in 1937; Paul Bounds bought lot #2 and Frank
Keck lot #4 in 1945; Alvey E. Bartholomew bought lots #9 and #10 and
William S. Propst lots #5, #7 and #8 in 1947; Warren and Mary Rice
bought lot #6 and J. Leonard Moore lot #5 in 1948,

On December 31, 1948 an event occurred which was to have a
profound effect on the development of Stove Point. On that date the
Hawksworths sold 2. 41 acres of land as shown on the plat below
to the Urbanna Yacht Club for $2,500, The club promptly changed
its name to Fishing Bay Yacht Club.
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Fishing Bay became the mecca for dedicated sailors of all ages,
mainly from Richmoend, who were quick to note the suitability of the
Point as a site for a summer home, Alan McCullough who, as Vice
Commodore, had acted on behalf of the Urbanna Yacht Club to buy the
yacht club property at Fishing Bay, was the first of this new wave of
summer visitors to purchase a lot on Stove Point, acquiring lot #30
on April 7,1949, While it had taken twelve years for the Hawksworths
to sell their first ten lots, seventeen summer sailors acjuired twenty
lots on Stave Point in a single year, buying most of the lots shown
below by the end of 1949,
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By some fortuitous circumstance the Hawksworths had surveyed
and platted the area shown above in February 1944 and were ready when
the buying panic came.

The larger of the two ponds shown above required a 185 foot wooden
bridge to span it. This was a tidal pond deep encugh to provide a happy
home for hundreds of crabs and one huge sea turtle which had floated in
with the tide. Until the bridge was built this pond barred passage and
made it impossible to traverse the length of Stove Point except around
the beach perimeters at low tide. A man named Charles Selby, later
Sheriff of Middlesex County, who built fences and did maintenance
work for the Hawksworths, supervised the gang of workmen who cleared
the land and built the roads for this new development and others that
were to follow.

Until 1951 the smaller of the two ponds shown above blocked
passage to the southern portion of Stove Point which remained a virgin
forest of towering pines.
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Platted Feb. 15, 1944

The left hand portion of the plat
shown above was completed in
1936; the right hand portion in
1944, Old plats such as these
were updated from time to time,
It will be noted that the Fishing
Bay Yacht Club is located on

this 1936 plat although the yacht
club did not buy this property
until December 1948. These plats
are shown in enlarged scale as
they include interesting detail

of this area in the mid-1930s and
at a later time, including location
of the wooden bridge across the
tidal pond.
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Demand for Stove Point lots remained strong and in September
1949 a new section comprising lots A through J as shown below was
surveyed, platted and offered for sale. By November 1951 all but
two of the ten lots in this new section had been sold.
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Older residents of this area remember well the horse shows that
were held in the section now comprising lots F through J prior to their
development for residential purposes. The daughters of Milton Cone
and the Hawksworth children all kept horses and rode together., The
horse shows were an outgrowth of their love for horses and the
excitement of competition which such shows afforded. These events

attracted a large number of entries and spectators, both children and
adults, from the Deltaville area,

Nearly all the Stove Point lots were purchased by families from
Richmond, Virginia, until 1951 when residents of Alexandria discovered
the Point. Within two years eight Alexandria families bought sixteen

adjoining lots in a section surveyed and platted by the Hawksworths
on QOctober 3, 1951,

An Alexandrian, John E. McPherson found the Point while on a
fishing trip in October 1951. McPherson, his son Johnny, and two friends
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had docked one evening at Tides Inn, and during dinner three ladies
from an adjoining table overheard the McPherson party talking about
the beauty of the area. The ladies interrupted the conversation to
gsay that if the men wanted to see the most beautiful of all rivers they
must visit the Piankatank. The next day the McPhersons and friends
cruised out of the mouth of the Rappahannock, around Stove Point,

and into Fishing Bay, finding the scenery as beautiful as the ladies
had described it.

Continuing to cruise up the Piankatank beyond Horse Point the
group had to anchor when a violent storm struck suddenly from the
east. As the storm abated and the sun reappeaved a double rainbow
formed spanning the length of Stove Point creating a scene of
incredible beauty moving John McPherson, Sr. to comment to his
companions that this was where he would like to retire.

Returning to Tides Inn the McPhersons learned the Hawksworths
still owned a large portion of Stove Point. They borrowed the Inn
manager's car the next day for the drive to Deltaville to find the
Hawksworths., Johrmy McPherson recalls that the Hawksworths pro-
vided a horse-drawn cart for the drive down to the Point to view
the recently platted lots available for sale, that they crossed the
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185 -foot wooden bridge spanning the large pond and that the road was
barely passable, Only two houses had been built at that time, the
McCullough and Dunn cottages.

As an owner and vice president of United Clay Products Company,
a brick manufacturing concern, John McPherson, Sr. had many
Alexandria friends in the building trades. Some expressed an interest
in Stove Point and visited the area with McPherson as he and his
partner, William P, Croom, Jr. completed plans to purchase lots
#41 and #39 respectively. In less than two years eight Alexandria
families had purchased the sixteen lots shown below. Six of them
decided to build homes immediately, and engaged Deltaville contractor
Aubrey Hall for that purpose.
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| Lots bought by
| McPherson and ;
t Alexandria friends

1951 and 1952 '

McPherson, trading as Hollin Hall Development bought lots #40
and #42 and constructed a golf course with nine tees all playing to
a central green, Carlyle Boguess and Clarence Simpson who owned
lots #43 and #45 formed the Boguess-Simpson Corp. to buy lots #44
and #46 as the location for a swimming pool. Use of these facilities
was made available to all of the Alexandria property owners,

The Alexandria families early recognized the need for a seawall
to protect their properties fronting Fishing Bay. They recruited
Clarence Simpson's son, Donald, just graduated in engineering
from VPI and a recent bridegroom, to handle the project. Don spent
his honeymoon on Stove Point in 1953 supervising construction of the
seawall and a dock 900 feet long leading from the shore to the deep
water channel. Armistead Payne, a local marine contractor, assisted
with the construction. Johany McPherson notes the 900-foot dock
is 400 feet longer than the Washington Monument is high.

On Qctober 14,1954 Hurricane Hazel dealt a savage blow to Virginia's
eastern seaboard. Buck Hawksworth remembers that three sailboats
anchored in Fishing Bay broke their moorings and were washed aground
on the road which was covered by six feet of water. Dr. Edward Eppes,
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concerned because all electrical power was off and the freezer in his
cottage was full of food, walked along the road thru water above his
waist, pulling a boat behind him carrying a Delco generator to restore
power to his cottage. Three days passed before electric service could
be restored. One summmer resident tried to drive his new Cadillac
through the water at low tide, became flooded, and saw his car all but
disappear as the tide returned. Few seawalls escaped damage. Some
were completely destroyed. Those who had not yet installed seawalls,
Dr. Beverley Clary among them, saw banks, crumbled by the onslaught
of the waves, wash into Fishing Bay.

In the aftermath of hurricane Hazel: Extensive damage to seawalls and docks

Johnny McPherson and his father drove to Fishing Bay on the day
of the storm. Since all roads leading to Stove Point were under water
they gratefully accepted Fugene Ruark's offer to take therm to their
property by boat. Johnny recalled that the water was well above their
dock and seawall and within two feet of the top of the bank. Of the
900-foot dock that had been built the year before only the pilings
remained. The dock, however had been constructed in twenty-foot
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sections. These sections separated from the pilings intact. Forty of
the fifty sections floated ashore and were piled up in the pond at the
end of the Point.

Following the storm the dock sections were floated back into place
and secured to their original pilings. Boat owners chartered a tug
from Norfolk to pull their boats off the road and back into the water.
The tug secured a line to the mast of the sailboat belonging to Eugene
Sydnor of Richmond and promptly broke the mast in two. The boat
belonging to Dy, W, Taliaferro Thompson was refloated without incident.

More damaging than Hazel from the standpoint of beach erosion
on the Chesapeake side of the Point were hurricanes Connie which hit
Virginia August 13,1955 and Dianne which struck less than a week later
on August 18th, Typical of loss suffered by many, the McPhersons
lost about forty feet of their shoreline on lots #36 to #42.

Lots #36 and #38 were at a low elevation where a pond had existed
for many years. The McPhersons had purchased them when they were
sold at auction as unsuitable for building sites. The Layfields had

purchased lots #12 and #13 when they were sold at the same auction
for the same reason.

McPherson's

Following these storms Deagle's
Marine Railway provided a dredge to pump
sand from Fishing Bay to fill in the
ponds on both the McPherson and
Layfield properties.

The dark areas in the photograph
matk the places where sand was
dredged from the Bay.

In 1969 the McPhersons decided to restore lots #36 to #42 to the
elevation of adjacent lots and again found that dredging sand from the
Bay would be less expensive than trucking it in, The dredge cut a
channel 800 feet long, 8% feet deep at low tide and 40 feet wide from
the deep water of the Bay to the shore, and also dredged a section of
the bank to form a protected anchorage as shown in the cover photo.
This anchorage adjoins the lot which Johnny McPherson purchased
from his father's corporation in 1965 and on which he built the cottage
he now occupies. Fifty six thousand cubic yards of sand were pumped
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from Fishing Bay to lots #36 through #42 building them up even with
adjacent lots, Enough sand remained to pump 500 cubic yards onto
the McEKnight's beach to replace sand lost in the storm.

Many who were summer residents in the late 1960s will remember
Johnny McPherson's Republic Seebee single engine amphibian airplane.
His arrival at Fishing Bay on Friday afternoons and departure Sunday
afternoons in this little flying machine were exciting events. The plane
flew at 80 miles per hour and covered the 80 miles from Alexandria
to Fishing Bay in exactly sixty minutes.,

Of the eight Alexandria families that were original purchasers of
lots on Stove Point only Clarence Simpson remains. Johnny McPherson
is the second generation of his family to own property there.
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On June 16,1984 an event occurred deserving of note in any
chronicle of Stove Point. On that date Johnny McPherson and
Arelene Smith were married in a gazebo Johnny had built facing the
Chesapeake Bay on the former site of the golf course. The gazebo
was converted into a chapel for the occasion by replacing the
weathervane atop its cupola with a cross. McPherson's former
teacher, Mr. Willis Wills of Alexandria performed the ceremony.
This is believed to be the only wedding ever to take place on
Stove Point.
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First wave: Second wave:
the fishermen - the sailors

lots #1 thru #10 lots #11 thru #34 ~ Fourth
1936 - 1948 20 lots sold in 1949 wave:
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Lots bought b
‘ McPherson and

' STOVE

in 1951 and 1952

A few years after the arrival of the Alexandria settlers the
remaining 25-~acre parcel encompassing the southern portion
of Stove Point was readied for development. Lots #55 and
#57 now owned by the Curtis and Harris families were bare
of trees when bought by their present owners, the only lots
on this part of the Point that could not boast a virtual forest
of towering pines.

Nettie L.ee Christian and her husband, Julian, had owned this portion
of Stove Point from 1898 to 1935 when they sold it to the Hawksworths,
The Christian's daughter, Charlotte, married Joe Ward, a farmer who
lived at Hess, near Burton Point, in Mathews County across the river
from Stove Point. According to Allen Ward, Joe's grandson, Joe Ward
farmed the two open lots mentioned above, bringing his mules across
the river on a motor powered barge. In addition to farming, Joe Ward
operated a whiskey still at the end of the Point which produced a bountiful
supply of good corn whiskey, In addition to potatoes and watermelons,

Joe Ward raised enough corn for his mules and his still. A well on the
property provided water, Joe farmed his land and operated his whiskey
still from 1924 to 1929, He had a stroke in his late 40s and died in 1953,

Sixth wave: Frank T, and
Katherine Hyde, and Donald
and Florence Register
purchased the southern end
of the Point - 16 acres -
August 8,1955,

stave lots A E Alexandria friends
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The sixteen acres purchased by the Hydes and Registers for
$25, 000 comprised the southern end of Stove Point including the
sand spit extending to deep water and bounded on the north by
lots #58 and #57.

As has previously been mentioned hurricane Connie which
struck Virginia's coastal areas August 13,1955 and hurricane Dianne
which roared in less than a week later on August 18th were
accompanied by easterly winds of gale force and high tides resulting
in more devastating bank erosion on the Chesapeake side of Stove
Point than had been caused by hurricane Hazel which struck the
area October 14, 1954,

The deed for the Hyde-Register purchase of their Stove Point
property went to record at the courthouse on the day hurricane
Connie hit, Frank Hyde visited the Point to assess the damage and
found that about twenty five percent of the property they owned
on August 12th had washed into the Bay on August 13th. Pine trees
that had stood fifteen to twenty feet from the water were now
awash on the beach.

Finding it impractical to build a seawall around the perimeter
of the entire property, the owners were faced with a dilemyma.,
The Registers opted to sell, At a meeting on June 1, 1957 twenty
Stove Point property owners agreed to guarantee $500 each in the
signing of a note as security for a $10, 000 bank loan to buy the
Registers interest, thus making the Association an equal partner
with Frank Hyde on a share and share alike basis,

A survey of the property was made June 13,1957,
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By deed dated September 18, 1957 Frank Hyde in partnership with
the Stove Point Improvement Association sold lots #61 and #63 to
Howard E. Baumberger, Within a short time thereafter enough lots
had been sold to pay off the $10, 000 bank loan,

Frank Hyde suggested that if the Association would relinquish
its one half interest in lot #65 and assign him ownership of this lot,
he would relinguish his one-half interest in four remaining lots
at the point, This was done., The Association offered to give these
four lots to any member who would agree to put a seawall around the
property within six months., Paul W. Bounds accepted this offer and
installed rip rap of heavy stone and boulders around the property as
agreed. Mr. Bounds gave lots #68 and #70 to his son David and the
end lot #71 to his daughter. Lot #69 was sold to James R. Beck.

Lot #71 was subsequently sold to John K.and Charlotte Adams.

In the manner described above the Association, the Hydes and
the Registers resolved a dilemma potentially costly to all parties
in a way that left all concerned virtually unscathed,

The plat on the previous page shows the location of a pond or
cove on lot #71, After Paul Bounds acquired the property he employed
a man named Gilbert,who was Deltaville's leading owner and operator
of heavy road and farm machinery, to construct a drag line at the
Point on what is now lot #71 to pull sand from what was then a well
defined and prominent sandspit to fill in the pond.

The deed granting the four lots described above to Paul Bounds
stated that a five-foot easement would be provided and maintained
over this property to permit access to the sandspit for all Stove
Point property owners,

With the purchase by the Hydes and the Registers on August 8§, 1955
of the sixteen acres at the end of the Point the Hawksworths completed
the sale of the last of their Stove Point property. Over a period of
twenty years subdivisions were platted and lots sold bound by restric-
tions that were not uniform and sometimes conflicting, The acreage
purchased by the Hydes and Registers was not bound by any restric-
tion at all. The 30-foot right of way over the length of the Point was
still owned by the Hawksworths although they had offered to deed it
to an association of property owners as soon as one could be formed.

To deal with these and other problems an organizational meeting
was held on Saturday, August 25,1956 at 8 PM at the Fishing Bay
Yacht Club for the purpose of forming the Stove Point Improvement
Association. Twenty four property owners attended the meeting.
Elected to serve as board members were: Messers. Moore, Dotts,
McPherson, Starke, Whitehurst and Simpson, They elected J.
Leonard Moore to serve as the Association's first president.
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At this meeting motions were passed to take over the road system
and to enforce existing restrictions while working toward the formulation of
uniform restrictions to apply to all property owners,

At a meeting on June 1, 1957 a motion was passed to hard-surface
the road from the Narrows to the end of the Point. Mr. Stuart W.
Whitehurst, a member of the board who was in the paving business,
offered to do this work at cost, an offer that was enthusiastically
accepted.

On July 26,1958 a uniform set of restrictions was adopted and
recorded,

Dr. Caroline McCue headed the pest control committee and initiated
a program of spraying on a planned and regular basis enlisting the
services of Mr. Roberts,the much beloved and respected yacht club
caretaker., As a result mosquitoes and other pests have been held to
a bearable level. The Association provided garbage collection
gervices for a time but this service has been discontinued,

The Association serves as overseer of building plans and lot
resale; sponsors a party for all members and their guests on
the Saturday closest to the Fourth of July; also, a business meeting
" to which all property owners are invited, held in August each year.
Finances have been prudently and well managed.

For these and other services we all owe our board members
and officers our sincere appreciation, A list of those who have
served as Asgsociation president, also those who have served as
secretary and treasurer, will be found in the section following this
narrative,

A few random observations as we approach the conclusion
of this historical chronicle:

The yacht club continues to flourish and recently announced
that it has been necessary to cap membership at 300.

Rock fish, once plentiful and the finest of all sport fish,
have disappeared with the eel grass but the Croaker are
back after a long absence and Spot, Trout, Flounder and
Bluefish are plentiful, as are the blue crabs,

In recent years swimming pools have sprouted up like
mushrooms,

The Middlesex taxman hovers ever near us and shares
hountifully in the progress and prosperity of the area.
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Our Association now has sixty nine members, of whom nine
are year-round residents,

Hurricanes? Buried in the subconscious of every property
owner is the knowledge that future destructive hurricanes
are inevitable. So why worry?

Water? Most areas of the Point are blessed with an adequate
supply of water of good quality drawn from a finite source which
we share with our neighbors and therefore use with care. Many
will remember the attempt made by Garland S. Sydnor. president
of Sydnor Hydrodynamics, to find a water source for Stove

Point residents by drilling to a depth of 700 feet on the lot now
occupied by Johnny McPherson's boat anchorage. The attempt
was unsuccessful.

Lots continue to change hands but more and more it seems that
the younger generations are inclined to perpetuate family interest
in Stove Point.

While Richmond families continue to be in the majority, this
is changing and our comunity is enriched by neighbors and
friends from other areas.

To Buck Hawksworth, Johnny McPherson and his wife, Arelene,
Allan Ward, Frank Hyde, Janice Shanks, Stephen C. Martin, attorney,
who prepared the summary of our restrictions; and to the helpful and
cooperative assistants at the Middlesex courthouse in Saluda and in
the land office of the Virginia State Library; and to many others who
have contributed to this history, our sincere thanks.

August 1984 William A. Johns, M. D,
Theodore M. Curtis

On the following pages are listings

of present and original lot owners,
Asgsociation officers, and a summary
of restrictions binding all property
owners. Also provided for those who
have an interest in such things is a
record tracing succession of owner-
ship of Stove Point back for more
than two hundred years.
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As we were, October 31,1953: Note the

location of tove
Point; the prominence of the sand spit at the end of the Point which then

stood one and a half feet above sea level at high tide; and the 900-foot dock
extending to deep water which had just been completed.
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RECORD OF SALE OF STOVE POINT PROPERTY
BY T.7T. & FRANCES B, HAWRKSWORTH
TO ORIGINAL OWNERS

Deed Book

Lot No. Sold by the Hawksworths to: Date Vol. Page
1 Milton Cone 8/6/36 52 385
3 Wirt & Mary Hatcher 2/23/37 53 55
2 Paul W. Bounds 5/17/45 57 473
9 & 10 Alvey E. Bartholomew 10/15/47 60 191
5 William S. Propst 10/30/47 60 212
8 William S. Propst 3/16/47 61 62
7 William S. Propst 3/16/48 61 65
6 Warren G. & Mary E. Rice 3/16/48 61 65
4 Frank E., Keck 10/30/45 57 473
5 J. Leonard Moore 3/16/48 61 68
2.41 Ac. Urbanna Yacht Club 12/ 31/48 61 499
30 Alan McCullough 4/7/49 62 55
28 Garland C, Chewning 4/7/49 62 59
16 William D. & Grace Suggs 4/7/49 62 63
29 Reid A. and Isabel Dunn 4/18/49 62 a8
27 Rutherford H. Spessard 4/21/49 62 97
17 & 18 M. Jack Rinehart 4/25/49 62 122
32 Mary Anne Rennolds 4/30/49 62 135
25 Isabel C. Burroughs 5/20/49 62 165
31 William T. Thompson, Jr, 6/6/749 62 188
33 Patrick A. Gibson 6/16/49 62 205
34 Robert & Wilma W. Stafford 9/19/49 62 389
A&F J. Leonard & Dorothy Moore 9/24/49 62 411
1111 B Ruth W, Layfield 10/3/49 62 425
H William S, Propst 10/3/49 62 429
i Alvey E. Bartholomew 10/3/49 62 432
J T. G. Layfield, Jr. 10/3/49 62 432
B Johin C. & Ruth M. Bryant 10/10/49 62 449
G William S. Propst 2/16/51 b4 139
C Edward M. & Maude Epps 11/2/51 65 147
39 William P, Croom, Jr. 11/10/51 65 173
41 John E. & Eileen McPherson 11/10/51 65 179
47 Robert A. Willgoos ' 12/10/51 65 222
43 Carlyle & Virginia Boguess 12/10/51 65 227
45 Clarence & Eugene Simpson 12/10/51 65 230
49 Wm, H. & Louise Singleton 3/13/52 65 371
51 George & Frances Landrieth 4/23/52 65 425
53 Chas, J. Shepherdson b/3/52 65 471

& Donald E. Ball

25 & 26 Albert & Margarita Giese 6/26/52 66 13
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Original owners of Stove Point property continued

Deed Book

Lot No. Sold by the Hawksworths to: Date Vol, Page
35 Hollin Hall Development 9/25/52 66 169

John E. McPherson, Pres,

20 Chas. H. & Blanche R, McKnight 9/27/52 66 220
44 & 46 Boguess-Simpson Corp. 10/1/52 66 186
34 Andrew & Suzanne Sinnickson 5/5/53 67 54
43 Southern Iron Works, Inc. B/8/53 67 239
D Dora Moncure Clary 9/11/53 67 310
E T. G. Layfield, Jr. 9/17/53 67 319
40 & 42 Hollin Hall Dev. (McPherson) 11/23/53 67 475
22 Howze & Ann Haskell 4/13/54 68 437
17 Byrd W. Davenport 4/19/54 68 448
19 Walter M. Dotts, Jr. 10/19/54 69 375
21 Howze & Ann Haskell 11/8/54 69 375
18 Thomas Todd & Lucy Dabney 2/4/55 69 535
15 Benjamin B, White 4/15/5%5 70 131
* Frances B. Hawksworth 7/28/55 70 403
52 Robt & leona Flaxington 7/30/55 70 413
56 William A. Johns 8/9/55 70 438
48 Thos. J. & Maria Starke 8/9/55 70 438
IA & 2A Robert L. Rand 8/9/55 70 444
3A, 4A &5A H. Randolph Harrison 8/9/55 70 449
57 Wm. H, & Katherine Harris 8/13/55 70 459
e Florence Ruffin Register 8/13/55 70 462
Katherine L. Hyde 8/13/55 70 462
ok Neil F'. & Florence Stull 12/21/55 71 199
55 James W. Gordon, Jr. 1/6/56 71 220
58 David Wells Brown et Al 4/3/56 71 391
Road System-Stove Point Improvement Assn, 6/18/58 74 359

The property now occupied by Frances B, Hawksworth

€ Southern end of point, 16 acres, encompassing what
are now lots 59 through 71,
Ak Nine acres fronting Fishing Bay and extending back

to Tobacco Cove, presently owned by the Stull
family, previously owned and occupied by the
Hawksworth family.
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STOVE POINT IMPROVEMENT ASSOCIATION

The Stove Point Improvement Associa-
tion came into existence at an organi-
zational meeting held at 8. 00 PM at the
Fishing Bay Yacht Club on Saturday,
August 25,1956, attended by twenty four
property owners.

We acknowledge with gratitude the
contribution of talent and time given by
the men and women who have served on
the board and as officers of the assoc-
iation,

Presidents

J. Leonard Moore

Thomas M. Starke

Paul W, Bounds

Dr, William A, Johns

Patrick A. Gibson

Garland C. Chewning

H. Randolph Harrison

Dr. Howard A, McCue, Jr,
Garland S, Sydnor, Jr. {2 Yrs.)
Robert M. Dunville

David S. Haddock (2 Yrs.)
Russell G, Fergusson

Walter 5. Boone, Jr,

M. M. DeGroff {2 Yrs.)
David Bounds

Samuel L. Shanks, Jr.

Otis Odell

John E. McPherson

Beverley L. Crump

Keith N, Miller

Kinloch Nelson

Charles M., Ishell (2 Yrs,)
Robert L. Butler

Secretary-treasurers

Walter M. Dotts, Jr.

Paul W. Bounds

Robert L. Rand

Howze Haskell

Dr. Howard A. McCue, Jr.
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Stove Point Improvement Association
Secretary-treasurers continued:

Dr. W. T. Thompson, Jr.
Theodore M. Curtis
Charles McKnight
Todd Dabney

Byrd W. Davenport
James R, Beck
Robert 5. Miller
Ray Roper Jones
James Mathews
Keith N. Miller
James R, Beck
Janice H, Shanks
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This is a concise summary of the Indentures
(restrictions) Agreement binding all property owners

of The Stove Point Improvement Association.

All property owners should have and read the
complete copy of the indentures. A copy can be

obtained from the Secretary.
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SUMMARY OF INDENTURES AGREEMENT

No building site shall be subdivided unless with the
approval in writing of the Board of Directors of Stove

Point Improvement Association, Incorporated.

No structure or part of any structure, except fences,
steps, seawalls and jetties, shall be erected or placed

on any building site nearer than forty feet to the average
line of the top o©of the bank on the Piankatank River or
Fishing Bay or nearer than fifteen feet to the side line
of said site, except with the approval in writing of the

Board.

No permanent structure shall be erected or placed or per-
mitted to remain on any building site other than one de-

tached single-family dwelling.

No house trailer, tent, or other temporary structure shall

be placed on property in Stove Point Development.

No dwelling, outbuilding, fence or pier of any kind shall
be erected or placed on any building site, and no major
alteration in the exterior of any such structure shall be
made until its location on the building site and its ex-

terior design have been approved in writing by the Board.

All material used in the construction of any permanent
structure erected or placed on a building site, and all
electrical installations therein, shall conform at least

to the minimum requirements of the National Board of Fire
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Underwriters for improvements or installations of the same
type in effect at the time of their construction or installa-

tion.

All.seweraqe systems in Stove Point Development shall con-
form at least to the minimum standards established for in-
side plumbing installations in cities under the laws of
Virginia, and no sewerage or waste water shall be emptied
or permitted to discharge into the waters of the Piankatank
River, Fishing Bay, or Tobacco Cove, or into any body of

water or watercourse in or near Stove Point Development.

No dwelling on any building site shall be used except for

private residential purposes.

No property in Stove Point Development or structure there-

on shall be used for any business or commercial purpose.

No horses, cattle, or other livestock, poultry or hogs

shall be raised or kept in Stove Point Development.

No garbage, trash or refuse shall be disposed of in the
waters of the Piankatank River, Fishing Bay, or Tobacco
Cove, or in any body of water or watercourse in or near
Stove Point Development., No land therein shall be used

or maintained as a dumping ground for garbage, trash or
refuse.

No noxious or offensive activity shall be carried on upon
any property in Stove Point Development or in any structure

thereon.
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The rights, powers and privileges of Stove Point Improve-
ment Association, Incorporated, shall hereafter be and be
exercised as follows:

(a) To approve or disapprove the inclusion of add-
itional real property lying on Stove Point between the
properties constituting Stove Point Development and the
present terminus of State Highway Route #1102 at Fishing
Bay ...

(b) To approve or disapprove the location, plans and
specifications for improvements on building sites, and to
grant or refuse exceptions to the building site and set-
back line restrictions. The Board shall approve the pro-
posed improvement if a majority of its members are of the
opinion that the location, plans and specifications for
the same conform to and are in harmony with the location,
external design and quality of other existing improvements
in Stove Point Development, and such location, plans and
specifications comply with the conditions, restrictions
and limitations imposed herein. The Board may consent to
such subdivision if, in the opinion of a majority of its
members, the same will result in the establishment of two
or more desirable building sites similar to other building
sites in Stove Point Development, and the location of any
existing improvements on said property or adjoining pro-
perties will continue to conform to the conditions, restrict-
ions and limitations imposed herein.

The Board may consent to such modification (set-back)
if, in the opinion of a majority of its members, the terrain

of the property or its area, because of erosion by the waters
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along its bank, justifies an exception to the general
restriction, and to grant such consent will not be
detrimental to the improvement or enjoyment of adjoin-
ing building sites.

{c) To maintain the road system in Stove Point Develop-

ment ...

All conditions, restrictions and limitations herein con-
tained shall be for the benefit of each owner of property
in Stove Point Development and shall pass with the title to

every building site and tract of land therein ...

If any of the conditions, restrictions and limitations herein
contained shall be violated or attempted to be violated, the
Association or any individual member or owner of property

in Stove Point Development shall have the right to institute.
appropriate proceedings at law or in equity against the per-
son or persons violating or attempting to violate the same,
either to enjoin and restrain such violation, or to recover

damacges therefor.
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Succession of ownership

In March 1935 T, T. Hawksworth bought Stove Point in its entirety,
an area totaling 120 acres. Two weeks later he married Frances
Slingluff Burch: They commissioned a Saluda attorney named " Pinky!
Smith to research prior ownership and write a history of the property.
This was done at a cost to the Hawksworths of $500. No copy of this
history can now be found and none is available. Buck Hawksworth does
remember, however, that the first owner of Stove Point, as reported
in this history was Col, Moore Fauntleroy who received a patent to
the property from the Crown during the reign of King Charles II,

Recent search (June 1984) of courthouse records in Saluda and
land office records in Richmond has established and documented
ownership of Stove Point from 1761 to the present time.

The first owner of record of Stove Point, as discovered by this
search of courthouse and land records, was Philip Grymes and his
wife Mary as recorded in deed book 8A, page 330:

By indenture made December 1,1761 the Hon,
Philip Grymes, Esq. and his wife Mary sold to
John Berry 'for the sum of one hundred forty
six pounds ten shillings current money of
Virginia' ... "that tract and parcel of land
commonly known by the name and appellation
of Store Point lying and being in the County

of Middlesex containing by estimation two
hundred and fifty acres be the same more or
less and bounded as follows: on the South
running ninety Poles and on the East four
hundred and thirty Poles with the Piankatank
River, on the Northeast ninety five Poles with
a Branch coming out of Bournes Creek and
marked trees to the Bayside finally bounded on
the West with a deep Bay or Bite of the
Piankatank River..."

Philip Grymes' grandfather, John Grymes, had established his
home in Middlesex County in 1691 and owned an expansive plantation
on the Piankatank which he called '"Grymesby." It appears likely
that this family had owned Store Point for many years.

John Berry's last will and testament dated December 9,1766
stated: "I give my son, John Berry, all that parcel of land I bought
of Philip Grymes, Esq. commonly known by the name of '"Store Point, "
The elder John Berry died in 1767. His son, John II and wife Frances
had a son, William, who inherited the Stove Point property at his death.
(Will book E, page 291; and deed book 19, page 54)
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William Berry deeded the Stove Point property to his daughter,
Mariah, Mariah married Samuel Cole who thus acquired dower rights
to Stove Point at Mariah's death.

By deed dated February 25,1843 Samuel Cole sold his interest
in Stove Point to William Coulborne. (Deed book 19, page 54)

"...that for the sum of ninety dollars current money
of Virginia paid to the said Samuel Cole by William
Coulborne the said Samuel Cole does grant and convey
unto said William Coulborne Samuel Cole's interest,
title and right in and to a certain parcel of land lying
and being situate on Stove Point in the lower end of
the county of Middlesex and called Stove Point containing
in the whole acres the part hereby intended to be
conveyed is the dower right of his wife Mariah Cole,
formerly Mariah Berry for and during his, the said
Samuel Cole's natural life and no longer of which he
became possessed by his intermarriage with said
Mariah and which said land has never been divided
but subject to a division between the heirs and legal
representation of William Berry Deed,.."

William Coulborne divided Stove Point into two parcels, one
by estimate 35+ acres' at the south end, the other ''by estimate
85 acres' at the northern end of the Point,

William Coulborne sold the 35% acres at the south end of the Point
to James H, Jackson.

By indenture dated January 1,1860 James H. Jackson and his wife,
Anna, sold to Ransom Deaton for the sum of three hundred and fifty
dollars:

", . .all the tract or parcel of land lying on the
lower end of Stove Point containing 353 acres
bounded on the North by land belonging to William
Coulborn and others on the East by the Piankatank
River and on the West by the Piankatank River..."
{Deed book 22, page 228)

The same property described above was conveyed to Nettie Lee
Christian and her husband, Julian, by deed from Ransom Deaton
dated June 12, 1896, (Deed book 32, page 231)

Nettie Lee Christian and ber husband, Julian, conveyed this
property to T.T. Hawksworth for the sum of $2, 350 by deed dated
March 29,1935
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M, ..that certain tract being the extreme southern

end of what is known as Stove Point bounded on the
North by land of Margaret E, Lyons, on the Kast and
South by the waters of the Piankatank River and on

the West by waters of Fishing Bay, containing 35%
acres more or less, being sold by the bulk and not

by the acre, andmore fully described by a plat of
survey based on survey of June 9,1932 by G. L, Evans,
surveyor.,.' The plat referred to is shown helow.

’;.L.Ev;;a

Ceértiried Surveyor
West Point, Va.

NETTIE L.CHRISTIAN
¥STOVE POINT®
NEAR RUARK,MIDDLESEX COUNTY;VA-
Avproximate Declination 7° oo' W F/S‘,““NQ Bf}}/
West Point, Vi March 26,1935,
Seale 1" - 3007
G L.EVANS
Basad on Survey of June 2th 1932.
Virginiagto-wits
In the office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court for the county of Middlesex the 4th day
of April 19356,the foregoing deed and plat were presented and certificate annaxed,admittef
to record at 4 o'clock P.M. and the same truly recorded. Sald deed had thereto affixed

Threa Dollara and Fifty Cente in Y.8. documentary revenus stamps canceleds -

Teste: g}.\é). Mw/ Deputy

for C.W.E.atman, Clerk.

The estimated 85 acres at the northern end of Stove Point owned
by William Coulborne at the time he subdivided the Point into two
parcels was deeded to Thomas Shreeve and David McQueen by deed
dated December 18,1866. (Deed book 23, page 90)
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By deed dated August 23,1882 Thomas Shreeve and David McQueen
sold this property to Capt. A, C. Lyon. (Deed book 27, page 376)

By will dated September 23,1891 A. C. Lyon left the above named
property to '"my infant son Lyston D. Lyon." (Will book 12, page 141)

By deed dated Mawrch 2,1905 Lyston D. Lyon sold his Stove Point
property estimated to be 85 acres to his wife, Margaret E. Lyon for
the sum of $1, 000 cash, { Deed book 38, page 79)

By deed dated March 29,1935 Margaret E. Lyon conveyed 94+
acres of the property she owned on Stove Point as shown on the plat
dated March 26,1935 on the following page and as described below
to T, T. Hawksworth for $9, 700,

1., . all that certain tract of land bounded as follows:
On the North by the land of Dr. E.P. Beadle's estate
and the waters of Jackson Creek, on the East by the
waters of Jackson's Creek and the Piankatank River,
on the South by the land of Nettie Lee Christian and
on the West by Fishing Bay and the land reserved by
the said Margaret K. Lyon together with the land
underlying the cove at the northern end of the property
hereby conveyed containing in all a total of ninety four
and one half acres, more or less, same being sold in
gross and not by the acre all of which is fully set forth
by a plat of Survey by G. L. Evans, surveyor, dated
March 26,1935 as parcel #1, being all the same

real estate conveyed to the said Margaret E. Lyon

by deed from Lyston D, Lyon dated March 2, 1905 and
recorded in dood book 38, page 79, and further being
the same real estate conveyed to the said Lyston D.
Liyon by will of A, C, Lyon recorded in Will Book 12,
page 141, except the 4 acres reserved by the said
Margaret &, Lyon and shown in detail as parcel #2

on the plat hereto attached, The property was
encumbered by a total of $3,100 in mowrtgages which
the Hawksworths agreed to assume. Price $9, 700.
Plat is filed with deed of 1935, "

The plat referred to above is reprinted on the following page.

With the acguisition by the Hawksworths of Stove Point in its entirety
one era in the history of this area ends and another begins, On August 6,
1936 the Hawksworths completed a plat of ten lots on their newly acquired
property and sold lot #1 to Milton Cone. The development of Stove Point
as a residential and recreational area had begun,
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